IN THE MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS APPEAL NO. 2009-CA-00347

LENT E. THOMAS, JR.

APPELLANT

V. BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF PANOLA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF PANOLA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Oral Argument Is Requested By Appellant

Michael K. Graves, MSB NO Walker, Brown, Brown & Graves, P.A. P. O. Box 276
2540 Highway 51 South
Hernando, Mississippi 38632
662-429-5277
Attorneys for Appellant

IN THE MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS APPEAL NO. 2009-CA-00347

LENT E. THOMAS, JR.

APPELLANT

V.

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS
OF PANOLA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

I. CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES.

- A. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE ORDER OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS REZONING ALDRIDGE'S PROPERTY FROM "AGRICULTURAL" TO "INDUSTRIAL" AS THE ORDER WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND WAS ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS.
- B. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE ORDER OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS REZONING ALDRIDGE'S PROPERTY FROM "AGRICULTURAL" TO "INDUSTRIAL" AS THE REZONING ORDER CONSTITUTED IMPERMISSIBLE SPOT-ZONING.
- C. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE ORDER OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS GRANTING A SPECIAL EXCEPTION FOR THE OPERATION OF A JUNKYARD ON ALDRIDGE'S PROPERTY AS THE ORDER WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND WAS ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS.
- D. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT THE PROVISION OF THE PANOLA COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE WAS NOT IMPERMISSIBLY VAGUE THEREBY MAKING THE APPROVAL OF ALDRIDGE'S REQUEST FOR A SPECIAL EXCEPTION ARBITRARY AND/OR CAPRICIOUS AND/OR UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

A. THE NATURE OF THE CASE.

On January 14, 2008, the Board of Supervisors of Panola County, Mississippi, entered an Order rezoning five (5) acres owned by Chris Aldridge from "Agricultural" to "Industrial". In that same Order, the Board of Supervisors also granted Aldridge a special exception to operate a junkyard on the same five (5) acres.

Appellant here, Lent Thomas, an adjoining landowner, appealed the Board's decisions to the Circuit Court of Panola County, Mississippi. Following a hearing on the appeal, the Circuit Court affirmed both decisions of the Board of Supervisors.

Lent Thomas now appeals the Circuit Court's Order to this Court.

B. COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION IN THE COURT BELOW.

The five (5) acre parcel which is the subject of this appeal was zoned "Agricultural" in 2002 (R.49) with the adoption of the <u>Panola County Zoning Ordinance</u> (R.144). Chris Aldridge ("Aldridge") purchased this five (5) acre parcel in 2006 (R.28). The subject five (5) acre parcel is located on Chapeltown Road, just off of Mississippi Highway 6, in Panola County, Mississippi (R.28).

In September, 2006, Aldridge applied for a special exception to operate a junkyard on the subject five (5) acre parcel located in the "Agricultural"-zoned area (R.29). The special exception was granted by the Panola County Board of Supervisors (R.29). Mr. Lent Thomas, Appellant here, filed an appeal of that decision with the Circuit Court of Panola County, Mississippi (R.29). The Circuit Court reversed the Board's order granting the special exception to Aldridge to operate a junkyard on the five (5) acres on the grounds that the Zoning Ordinance did not allow for a junkyard in an "Agricultural"-zoned area, even with a special exception (R.29). See Order of Circuit Court of

Panola County dated October 19, 2007 (R.106-107).

Subsequent to the Court's Order, on November 13, 2007, Aldridge filed an application to rezone the property to "Industrial", and for a special exception to operate a junkyard should the rezoning request be granted by the Board (R.332-335). Over the objection of Appellant Lent Thomas and other surrounding residents and business owners, on January 14, 2008, the Board granted the rezoning request and approved the special exception to operate a junkyard on the five (5) acre parcel (R.309).

Appellant Lent Thomas timely filed an appeal of the Board's decision(s) to the Circuit Court of Panola County on January 18, 2008 (R.1-9). Aldridge filed a Motion To Intervene in the appeal (R.16-18), and that Motion was granted by the Court on August 12, 2008 (R.167-168).

Following a hearing on the appeal held on January 22, 2009, the Circuit Court entered an Order on February 10, 2009, affirming the decisions of the Board of Supervisors (R.472-481).

Appellant Lent Thomas timely appealed the Circuit Court's Order to this Court on February 27, 2009 (R.482-483).

C. STATEMENT OF FACTS RELEVANT TO THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

In June, 2006, Chris Aldridge purchased from MMC Materials, Inc., a five (5) acre parcel of property located on Chapeltown Road in Panola County, Mississippi, near the intersection of Chapeltown Road and Highway 6 (R.28, 337-339). At the time of Aldridge's purchase of the property, the property was zoned "Agricultural" which had been its zoning designation at all times since the adoption of the <u>Panola County Zoning Ordinance</u> in March, 2002 (R. 49 and 144-146). Following his purchase of the property, Aldridge unsuccessfully attempted to acquire a "special exception" to operate a junkyard on the property (R. 105-107). Although the "special exception"

request was granted by the Panola County Board of Supervisors, the Board's Order was reversed by the Circuit Court of Panola County, Mississippi, on the grounds that the <u>Panola County Zoning Ordinance</u> did not allow a junkyard to operate in an "Agricultural" zone, even with a special exception (R. 105-107, 153). Aldridge then filed subsequent applications to have the property rezoned from "Agricultural" to "Industrial", and, as zoned "Industrial", for a special exception to operate a junkyard. The Panola County Board of Supervisors granted both of these applications (R. 309), the Circuit Court affirmed the Board's Order (R. 472-481), and this appeal follows.

Prior to Mr. Aldridge's purchase of this property in 2006, Appellant Lent Thomas previously owned the property and sold the property to an individual² who at the time resided in Marks, Mississippi (R. 45). At the time of sale of the property by Mr. Thomas to this individual, the property was rural and not zoned,³ and the use of the property was almost exclusively agricultural and residential as it remains today (R. 54).

The individual to whom Mr. Thomas sold the property subsequently sold the property to MMC Materials, Inc., and MMC Materials then used the property for the operation of a concrete plant (R. 28, 45).⁴ However, prior to Aldridge's purchase of the property from MMC Materials, MMC Materials had ceased using the property for concrete plant operations (R. 28-29, 45).⁵

¹ Under the <u>Panola County Zoning Ordinance</u>, a junkyard cannot even exist in an "Industrial" zone without a special exception (R. 155).

² This individual was not identified in the record, but there was no dispute that Mr. Thomas sold the property to an individual from Marks, Mississippi, prior to the sale of the property by that gentleman to MMC Materials, Inc.

³ The Panola County Zoning Ordinance was not adopted until 2002 (R. 144).

⁴ The Circuit Court Order entered in this matter on February 10, 2009, erroneously states that Aldridge purchased the property from "Kelly Greenwood" (R. 474).

⁵ The Circuit Court's Order of February 10, 2009, made the following findings concerning the "concrete plant":

Testimony at the Commission and Board hearings included information that the property was sold to Aldridge by Kelly Greenwood and the property was used as a concrete plant and therefore being used as industrial property at the time of purchase by Aldridge, even though it was zoned as "agricultural" and therefore a non-conforming use of agricultural land prior to the 2002 adoption of the Land Use Ordinance by Panola County, and continued as a non-conforming use until October 19,

Mr. Aldridge allegedly purchased this property for the purpose of operating a junkyard, but Aldridge claimed before the Board that at the time of his purchase of the property he was not aware of any zoning which would prevent him from operating a junkyard on the property (R. 28). Belying this claim, however, ⁶ Aldridge did apply for a special exception to operate a junkyard on the property

2007, when the Circuit Court Order signed by the undersigned setting aside the original special exception because of the restriction contained in the land use ordinance prohibiting a special exception being granted for this type of business on agricultural land.

(R. 474-475).

As previously discussed, the evidence presented to the Board was clear that the property was not being used as an industrial concrete plant operation at the time that Aldridge purchased the property. Even Aldridge's counsel acknowledged this at the Board hearing (R. 28-29). Therefore, there was no "industrial" use of the property at the time that Aldridge purchased the property as stated by the Circuit Court. The only evidence of use of the property at the time of Aldridge's purchase was that there was office work being conducted by the owners of the previous concrete operation (R. 28-29), apparently in the winding-down of operations which had already ceased prior to Aldridge's purchase as acknowledged by Aldridge's counsel at the Board hearing (R. 28-29).

Additionally, assuming *arguendo* that some "industrial" concrete plant operation was still being conducted on the property at the time of Aldridge's purchase, that use---which would at the time be a non-conforming use of "Agricultural"-zoned property under Panola County's then-enacted <u>Land Use Ordinance</u>---could not be continued as a "non-conforming" use of a different character as stated by the Circuit Court (R. 474-475). Mississippi law is clear that a non-conforming use may continue only until there is a change in the use or an abandonment of the use. <u>See Barrett v. Hinds County</u>, 545 So.2d 734, 737 (Miss. 1989):

Non-conforming uses may be permitted to continue where the uses were lawfully established at the adoption of the ordinance; however, depending on the ordinance provision, the exemption granted to a pre-existing non-conforming use may be lost upon any change in the use, or abandonment.

Significant in this regard, the Panola County Land Use Ordinance provides in relevant part:

Non-Conforming Uses --- Any use or structure existing at the time of enactment of or subsequent amendment to this ordinance, but not in conformity with its provisions, may be continued with the following limitations. Any use or structure which does not conform to the provisions of this ordinance shall not be:

i. Changed to another non-conforming use.

Panola County Land Use Ordinance at § Article IV a.i. (R. 157).

Although the Circuit Court included this paragraph in its Order that Aldridge's junkyard was the continuation of a pre-existing non-conforming use (R. 474-475), it nevertheless does not appear that the Circuit Court relied on this finding in affirming the actions of the Board in rezoning the property and granting the special exception (R. 476-481).

6 Of course, Aldridge's claimed ignorance of any "zoning" prohibition at the time he purchased the property is wholly irrelevant to the merits and this Court's decision.

before he began junkyard operations on the property (R. 105-107). Although the Board of Supervisors granted this special exception, the Circuit Court reversed the Board's order on appeal on the grounds that the <u>Land Use Ordinance</u> did not permit a special exception for the operation of a junkyard in an "Agricultural" zone (R. 105-107).

While Aldridge never ceased conducting junkyard operations on the property despite the initial Order of the Circuit Court holding that the Board's grant of the special exception in an "Agricultural" zone was unlawful, Aldridge "re-applied" for a special exception predicated on Aldridge's then requested "rezoning" of the lone five (5) acre parcel from "Agricultural" to "Industrial".

Following a hearing before the Board of Supervisors, the Board granted Aldridge's request to rezone the lone five (5) acre parcel from "Agricultural" to "Industrial" and also to allow Aldridge a special exception use to (continue to) operate his junkyard in the now "Industrial" zoned five (5) acres owned solely by Aldridge (R. 309).

Appellant Lent Thomas appealed the Board's decision to the Circuit Court, and the Circuit Court affirmed the Board's order in all respects (R. 472-481). This appeal followed.

VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT.

The <u>Panola County Land Use District Ordinance</u> allows a junkyard in only one zoning district, "Industrial", and then only by special exception. Therefore, in order for Aldridge to be entitled to a special exception to operate a junkyard, Aldridge's property must first be rezoned from "Agricultural" to "Industrial".

⁷ The Land Use Ordinance allows for a special exception for junkyard operations in an "Industrial" zone (R. 155).

Aldridge's property has been zoned "Agricultural" at all times since the adoption of the Ordinance in 2002. In order to be entitled to a rezoning of this property, Aldridge must prove by clear and convincing evidence that, either, (1) there has been a substantial change in the character of the neighborhood since the original zoning such that rezoning is justified <u>and</u> that there is a public need for the rezoning, or, (2) that there was a mistake in the original zoning. Aldridge did not prove either grounds required for rezoning.

The record evidence clearly demonstrates that there has been <u>no</u> change in the <u>"character"</u> of the neighborhood since the time of the initial zoning by Panola County as "Agricultural" in 2002. The area in which Aldridge's property is located continues to predominate as a rural, agricultural area just as at the time of its original zoning. Although there are a few retail businesses and one (1) light industrial facility located in the area, all of these businesses also existed at the time of the original zoning as "Agricultural". In fact, at the time of Aldridge's application, the only use change in that entire area since the original zoning in 2002 was that there had been one special exception request for the operation of a used car lot. Even this, however, would not constitute a change in any way in the "character" of the neighborhood as there already existed several car lots in the area at the time that the area was originally zoned "Agricultural". Furthermore, the requisite change must be to the <u>"character"</u> of the area such that rezoning can be reasonably justified as consistent with the change in the character of the area, not simply any change at all in the area.

Aldridge also failed to present evidence to the Board of a "public need" for another junkyard in this area, or even in Panola County. There was no evidence of any unfulfilled need for another junkyard in this area which has for many years been serviced by an already existing yard in Panola County and several other yards in adjacent counties. Furthermore, any industrial development in Panola County is intended to be in the entirely opposite end of the County from Aldridge's property

in a planned industrial park area so, even if anticipated "future" need for another junkyard could legally satisfy the "public need" requirement for rezoning under Mississippi law, there is no future need for another junkyard in the area of the County in which Aldridge's junkyard would be located.

This rezoning request is simply for a lone five (5) acre parcel in the middle of a rural, agricultural area. It is not intended to create more "industrial"-zoned property to further industrial development in Panola County. The only "need" for this requested rezoning is a private citizen's desire to use his property to conduct a business for profit which would be wholly inconsistent with the County's comprehensive planning and original zoning, out of character with the existing area, and for a purpose that no other neighboring resident would be able to use their property. This rezoning, if allowed to stand, would be a classic case of "spot zoning" interposed on neighboring residents who do not want a junkyard in their backyards and for the sole purpose of favoring Aldridge.

Further, assuming arguendo that Aldridge could even prove by clear and convincing evidence that rezoning of this lone five (5) acre tract to "Industrial" was justified and appropriate, a junkyard could only be allowed by special exception even in an "Industrial" zone. Aldridge wholly failed to present any evidence to the Board which satisfied any of the requirements of the Ordinance's special exception provision. Aldridge's failure to prove satisfaction of these requirements by a preponderance of the evidence is fatal to the requested special exception for operation of a junkyard.

Finally, the special exception provision by which the Board approved Aldridge's special exception request to operate a junkyard is so vague and ambiguous that it is unconstitutional and violates Appellant Lent Thomas' substantive due process rights. That provision should be stricken from the <u>Ordinance</u>, and, with that provision declared inoperable as unconstitutional, there is no legal basis upon which Aldridge can be allowed to operate a junkyard on this five (5) acre parcel in the

middle of rural, agricultural property.

VII. ARGUMENT.

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

The standard of review of a board's decision on appeal is determined by whether the reviewing court is considering a factual issue and the "burden of proof" required to support the requested change, or, whether the court is considering a question of law and/or a constitutional issue implicated by the board's decision.

1. Factual Issues and Burden of Proof.

(i) Rezoning.

A rezoning decision of a local governing body may be reversed on appeal if the decision was "arbitrary, capricious, discriminatory, illegal or is not supported by substantial evidence". <u>See Gentry v. City of Baldwin</u>, 821 So.2d 870, 872 (Miss.Ct.App. 2002).

"Substantial evidence has been defined as 'such relevant evidence as reasonable minds might accept as adequate to support a conclusion' or to put it more simply, more than a 'mere scintilla' of the evidence." Hooks v. George County, 748 So.2d 678, 680 (Miss. 1999). "An act is arbitrary when it is not done according to reason or judgment, but depending on the will alone. 'Capricious' is defined as any act done without reason, in a whimsical manner, implying either a lack of understanding of or a disregard of the surrounding facts and settled controlling principles." <u>Id.</u>

(ii) Special Exceptions.

Decisions by local governing bodies on special exceptions are adjudicative in nature. <u>See Mayor and Board of Aldermen of Town of Prentiss v. Jefferson Davis County, Mississippi</u>, 874 So.2d 962, 964 (Miss. 2004). "A reviewing court's obligation on appeal regarding zoning issues that are adjudicative in nature . . . is to determine whether the applicants proved by a preponderance of

the evidence that they met the conditions for a special exception." <u>Bowling v. Madison County Bd.</u>

<u>Of Supervisors</u>, 724 So.2d 431, 436 (Miss.Ct.App. 1998) (citation omitted). See also <u>Beasley v.</u>

<u>Neelly</u>, 911 So.2d 603, 607 (Miss.Ct.App. 2005) (citations omitted):

Zoning issues that concern whether to grant or deny a request for a . . . special exception, are adjudicative, as opposed to legislative, in nature; therefore, on appeal, the reviewing courts must determine whether the applicant proved by a preponderance of the evidence that all conditions required for the requested [special exception] were satisfied.

In reviewing the board's decision, the reviewing court is to determine whether the board's action is supported by "substantial evidence".

In obtaining the special exception, the burden is on the applicant of the change to show by a preponderance of the evidence that the elements/factors outlined in the ordinance have been met. Once the burden has been met at the administrative agency level, the Board's decision is binding on an appellate court if the decision is founded upon substantial evidence.

Perez v. Garden Isle Community Ass'n, 882 So.2d 217, 224 (Miss. 2004) (Carslon, J., concurring) (citations omitted).

"Substantial evidence, according to the Mississippi Supreme Court, is defined as relevant evidence that reasonable minds might accept as satisfactory to support a conclusion or, stated otherwise, that which constitutes 'more than a "mere scintilla" of evidence". Beasley, 911 So.2d at 607 (citations omitted).

It may be said that "it means such relevant evidence as reasonable minds might accept as adequate to support a conclusion. Substantial evidence means evidence which is substantial, that is, affording a substantial basis of fact from which the fact in issue can be reasonably inferred."

<u>City of Olive Branch Bd. Of Aldermen v. Bunker</u>, 733 So.2d 842, 845 (Miss.Ct.App. 1998) (citations omitted).

2. Legal and Constitutional Issues.

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