#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

LENT E. THOMAS, JR.

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2009-CA-00347

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF PANOLA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

## ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF PANOLA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

(LOWER COURT CAUSE NO. CV-2008-25BP2)

#### **BRIEF FOR APPELLEE**

#### OF COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE:

Jay Westfaul, Miss. Bar No.
The Westfaul Law Firm
115 Eureka Street, Suite A
Post Office Box 977
Batesville, Mississippi 38606
Telephone: (662) 563-8482

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI APPEAL NO. 2009-CA-00347

LENT E. THOMAS, JR.

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2009-CA-00347

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

This controversy revolves around the operation of a recycling plant, referred to as a "junkyard" in the Chapeltown community of Panola County, Mississippi. After the Panola County Board of Supervisors rezoned five acres of land owned by Chris Aldridge from "agricultural" to "industrial" so that he might operate a recycling business on the sight where a concrete plant had been previously located, Appellant appealed to the Circuit Court of the Second Judicial District of Panola County, Mississippi. The Circuit Court affirmed the decision of the Board of Supervisors. Appellant maintains the Circuit Court erred in the decision and has perfected this appeal to the Supreme Court of Mississippi.

The Appellants have asserted four errors by the lower court in the previous decision. The first is that the lower court erred in affirming the order of the Board of Supervisors rezoning Aldridge's property from "agricultural" to "industrial" as the order was not supported by substantial evidence ad as arbitrary and capricious. The second is that the lower court erred in affirming the order of the Board of Supervisors rezoning Aldridge's Property from "agricultural" to "industrial" as the rezoning order constituted impermissible "spot zoning." The third is that the lower court erred in affirming the order of the Board of Supervisors granting a special exception for the operation of a "junkyard" on Aldridge's property as the order was not supported by substantial evidence and was arbitrary and capricious. The fourth is that the lower court erred in ruling that the provision of the *Panola County Zoning Ordinance* (called the Panola County Land Use District Ordinance), relating to special exceptions, is not impermissibly vague, thereby making the approval arbitrary and/or

capricious and/or unconstitutional.

The Appellee Board of Supervisors would show that the order of the Circuit Court was correct and supported by substantial evidence. In particular, it would show that prior to granting the Aldridge's request, a lengthy hearing was held in which evidence was presented showing that there had been an apparent mistake in the original zoning, a change in the character of the surrounding area, justifying the rezoning, that there was a public need for additional property to be zoned industrial for employment, and, finally, that there was a public need for the disposal of scrap metal products. Furthermore, there was evidence before the Board in the form of testimony, photographs, maps, exhibits and general knowledge of the area by the Supervisors on which to base their determination.

On appeal, based on prior precedents of this Court, the findings and determinations of Boards of Supervisors are entitled to a presumption of validity, and their orders must be sustained unless the Appellant can establish that the Supervisors' actions were arbitrary, capricious, discriminatory, illegal, and not supported by substantial evidence. On the other hand, if the Supervisors' actions are "fairly debatable," they must be upheld, even if this court would have decided the matter differently. There is no doubt that given the extensive record and the totality of the information before the Supervisors, their decisions were, at a minimum, "fairly debatable."

On the issue of "spot zoning," the Board would show that, based on prior decisions of the Mississippi Appellate Courts, "spot zoning," like many other things, is to some extent in the eyes of the beholder. However, the Appellee Supervisors would show that the rezoning of the subject property and the recycling operation would serve a number of public purposes in not only improving employment opportunities, but providing the ability to recycle cans, copper and aluminum, all

providing for the public good. As such, this particular situation does not fall within the category of spot zoning.

As to the "special exception," both the Panola County Land Development Commission, as well as the Panola County Board of Supervisors, gave special consideration to the matter in promulgating strict guidelines and providing for the enforcement thereof prior to granting the "special exception." The Panola County Land Use District Ordinance sets out many specific requirements to be proven in order to obtain a "special exception." It is clear from the record as a whole that the restrictions and conditions approved by the Board were carefully crafted in a conscientious manner to protect the area, the public and nearby home and landowners. As a result, the actions of the Board of Supervisors were "fairly debatable," were in accordance with the prior deliberations and considerations of the Land Use Commission, and are entitled to the respect and deference of the appellate courts, which have repeatedly stated that they do not sit as a "super zoning board."

Finally, as to the fourth assigned issue, the County would most respectfully show that the Ordinance meets all constitutional requirements, is not vague and is valid. However, if the Court should entertain the issue of whether the Land Use Ordinance as it relates to "special exceptions" is unconstitutional, the county would most respectfully show that the Appellants have failed to prove the unconstitutionality by the stringently rigid standard, and the fourth issue must fail.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### i. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Supreme Court of Mississippi set forth the appropriate standard of review for rezoning in *Town of Florence v. Sea Lands, Ltd.*, 759 So.2d 1221, 1223-1224 (Miss.2000), by stating:

This Court has held that zoning is not a judicial matter, but a legislative matter. Luter v. Hammon, 529 So.2d 625, 628 (Miss.1988). On appeal, the decision of the Board must be upheld unless it is "arbitrary, capricious, discriminatory, or is illegal, or without a substantial evidentiary basis." Faircloth v. Lyles, 592 So.2d 941, 943 (Miss.1991). Therefore, the decision to rezone will not be disturbed where it is "fairly debatable." Saunders v. City of Jackson, 511 So.2d 902, 906 (Miss.1987). "Fairly debatable' is the antithesis of arbitrary and capricious." Id.

While Appellant is correct in stating that the burden of meeting the requisite standard of proof is on the property owner requesting the zoning alteration, amendment or special exception, we must always remember that once the local governing authority - the Panola County Board of Supervisors and the Panola County Land Development Commission in the case at Bar - has acted, there exists a presumption of validity of the local governing body's enactment or amendment of a zoning ordinance, and the burden of proof is thereafter on the party asserting its invalidity. *Perez v. Garden Isle Community Assn.*, 882 So.2d 217 (Miss.2004). *Heroman v. McDonald*, 885 So.2d 67 (Miss.2004).

Therefore, the Order of the Board of Supervisors granting the rezoning of the subject property and further granting the special exception is presumed to be valid, and the burden of proof is on the Appellant to establish otherwise. Furthermore, the decision of the Board of Supervisors is to be upheld unless the Appellant establishes that the decision is arbitrary, capricious, discriminatory,

illegal, or is not supported by substantial evidence. *Town of Florence*, *Supra.*, *City of New Albany v. Ray*, 417 So.2d 550 (Miss.1982). The Board of Supervisors does not have to prove that its decision is not arbitrary and capricious. *Perez v. Garden Isle Community Assn.*, *Supra.* 

Moreover, the Supreme Court of Mississippi recently upheld its long-standing essential test for appellate courts to follow in reviewing decisions to be whether the action of the governing body appears "fairly debatable." *Bridge v. Mayor and Board of Aldermen of the City of Oxford, Mississippi, et. al.*, No. 2007-CA-0601-SCT (Sept. 11, 2008). *Gillis v. City of McComb*, 860 So.2d 833 (Miss.Ct.App.2003). "Fairly debatable" is said to be the antithesis of arbitrary and capricious in that if a decision is one which could be considered as such, then it could not be considered arbitrary and capricious. *Mayor and Bd. of Aldermen of Clinton v. Hudson*, 774 So.2d 448 (Miss.Ct.App.2000).

Neither the Supreme Court nor the Circuit Court should sit as a "super zoning commission." City of Biloxi v. Hilbert, 597 So.2d 1276 (Miss.1992). Gentry v. City of Baldwyn, 821 So.2d 870 (Miss.Ct.App.2002). In order to have granted the petition to rezone the subject property, the local board should merely find by clear and convincing evidence either (1) that there was a mistake in the original zoning or, (2) the character of the neighborhood has changed to such an extent as to justify rezoning and that a public need exists for rezoning. Town of Florence, 759 So.2d at 1223-1224 n.1. City of Oxford v. Inman, 405 So.2d 111, 113 (Miss.1981). Mayor & Bd. Of Aldermen v. Estate of Lewis, 963 So.2d 1210, 1214 (Miss.Ct.App.2007). On appeal, in determining whether these findings were sufficiently made, the "fairly debatable" standard applies both as to the finding of whether there has been a change in character of the neighborhood and whether there is a public need for rezoning. Luter, Supra. Therefore, since the Board of Supervisors' actions are "fairly

debatable," with substantial evidence to support them, then the decision should be upheld, even if this Court in considering the matter might arrive at a different conclusion.

ii. ISSUE A: THE CIRCUIT COURT WAS CORRECT IN AFFIRMING THE APPELLEE'S DECISION IN REZONING ALDRIDGE'S PROPERTY FROM "AGRICULTURAL" TO "INDUSTRIAL"

AS THE DECISION WAS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE, AND WAS NEITHER ARBITRARY NOR CAPRICIOUS.

The Supreme Court of Mississippi clearly states the conditions necessary for a rezoning to be legal in *Board of Alderman, City of Clinton v. Conerly*, 509 So.2d 877, 883 (Miss.1987). The Supreme Court of Mississippi mandates that one of two conditions be met before a zoning board may legally rezone property. The first requires that there was a mistake in the original zoning. The second condition is two-part, first there must be a change in the character of the neighborhood such that rezoning is justified coupled with a public need for the rezoning. *Id.* The burden of proof for these conditions is placed on the applicant and same must be shown by clear and convincing evidence. *Id.* at 884

### 1. THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS CORRECTED A MISTAKE WHICH WAS MADE IN THE ORIGINAL ZONING PLAN

A notable change occurred in Mississippi Law with the Supreme Court's ruling in *Bridge v. Mayor and Bd. Of Aldermen of the City of Oxford, et. al.*, No. 2007-CA-00601-SCT (Sept. 11, 2008), concerning the issue of "mistake." While it is true that the meaning of "mistake within the meaning of the law is not a mistake of judgment, but, rather, a clerical or administrative mistake," (*quoting New Albany v. Ray*, 417 So.2d 550, 552 (Miss.1982)), the Court, over the strong dissent of Chief Justice Smith joined by another Justice, allowed an error in omission to constitute a mistake. In other words, the governing body was allowed to rezone using common sense in finding that an

error was made in the zoning because the Board surely did not intend to alter what had long been the situation in a particular area, and that in doing so, it made a mistake by omission. This is a clear deviation from prior law, and is extremely important in the case at Bar.

If it can be proven that there was a mistake in the original zoning by the applicant then a rezoning may legally occur. The Intervenor applicant in the Circuit Court further details the "mistake" found by the Board of Supervisors in his Brief which is in the record. The Panola County Land Development Commission discovered in a finding that Panola Country was blanket zoned "agricultural"(R.433). Counsel for Intervenor Appellee asserts in his brief to the Circuit Court that ninety-nine percent of Panola Country was zoned "agricultural" when the ordinance was adopted, (R.433). Obviously, as was well pointed out in the evidence presented before the Board, a "mistake" was made in not zoning the subject area industrial in the first place. The position is clearly analogous to *Bridge*, *Id*.

[T]here are numerous business, most of which are commercial instead of industrial. However, the same area, about a mile and a half down the road, is where the ACI industry is. That, too, was left zoned agricultural at the time you adopted your ordinance. ..there's a great big industrial plant called the – I think it's called Tennessee Gas plant. . .All these areas that were being used for industrial purposes before you adopted the ordinance appear to me to still be zoned agricultural under your ordinance. That means if those business go out of business or something happens to them and somebody else needs to come in behind these businesses, just like Mr. Aldridge did behind this concrete place, they are zoned agricultural. . .(R.182)

Notwithstanding the Memphis planner's statement which was presented on behalf of the Appellant (R.197), the Board was charged with assessing the testimony, evidence and arguments as a whole, coupled with their personal knowledge of the situation, and was free to make the well-reasoned and obvious decision that it was a mistake to zone the area agricultural, obviously

not desiring to close down some of the largest employers in the county. As this Court well knows, "expert" testimony has to be closely scrutinized for obvious reasons. As in *Bridge*, *Supra*., the Board was charged with correcting a mistake to make the permitted land usage consistent with goals and objectives of the comprehensive plan. The Board of Supervisors was simply following the law which states, in part, that "[z]oning regulations shall be made in accordance with a comprehensive plan." Miss.Code Ann. § 17-1-9 (Rev.2003).

## 2. CHANGE IN CHARACTER OF NEIGHBORHOOD IS "FAIRLY DEBATABLE" AND THERE WAS A PUBLIC NEED FOR THE REZONING

If we have a "fairly debatable" question as to the change of the character of the neighborhood and the public need for rezoning, then the decision cannot be "arbitrary and capricious." *Saunders v. City of Jackson,* 511 So.2d at 902, 906 (Miss.1987). Here we have pages of testimony and documentary evidence as to the change of the character of the neighborhood, "...[C]onsider all documents that are within your control, that is, documents that are given to you dealing with business expansion, business growth, population growth in this area, particularly in the area along Highway 6 that we are talking about." (R.189) The massive expansion of Heafner Motors was also before the Board (R.214-215). While it is true that the Mississippi Court of Appeals reversed the Panola County Board of Supervisors in a zoning case because "change of character" was not proven, that case is distinguishable from the instant case in that the Court of Appeals was extremely concerned with the fact that the scrap metal business which was to be operated on the rezoned property was unsightly, offensive and causing pollution problems which were not in accord with the master plan. *Cockrell v. Panola County Board of Supervisors*, No. 2005-CA-02240-COA (¶9, f.n. 1). *Cockrell* is far different than this case. The record shows that the operation upon which the Applicant's use was

permitted is a very neat, attractive, and clean operation, causing no pollution. These facts are discussed more fully below.

Clearly, the Board had before it a "fairly debatable" question as to the change of the character of the neighborhood, and that question was resolved in favor of the Applicant.

As to whether there is a public need for rezoning, the undersigned need not recite the entire record upon which the decision was based. Suffice it to say that the required change was necessary for [1] economic development (R.190), [2] business growth (R.190), [3] public convenience (R.191), [4] public safety and health (R.191), and [5] elimination of harm to the environment (R.191).

In reviewing the zoning decisions of a public body, the appellate court is to treat the public body as untethered and free when using "their common knowledge and familiarity" in the disputed matter in addition to the testimony and debate provided at the hearing. *Mayor and Bd. Of Aldermen of Clinton v. Hudson*, 770 So.2d at 451. In addition, it is not necessary for an Order of the Board of Supervisors to recite the factual basis for its findings – just so such a factual basis exists. *Gillis v. City of McComb*, 860 So.2d at 836.

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